INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

LEONEL GUERRERO )
)
Petitioner/Defendant, )
)
)
\Y; ) Case No. 03-10038-02-WEB
) 04-3368-WEB
)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)
Respondent/Plaintiff. )

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Now beforethe Court isthe motion of petitioner Leond Guerrero, to vacate, set asdeor correct
his sentence under the provisons of 28 U.S.C. § 2255. A review of the record reflects that Petitioner
pleaded guilty on June 2, 2003. (Doc. 108). Peitioner broke the terms of the plea agreement by failing
to tedtify againgt a co-defendant and the Government withdrew the pleaagreement. (Doc. 137). Petitioner
pleaded guilty again on September 15, 2003 to two counts of interstate travel in aid of a racketeering
enterprisein violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1952(a)(3) and judgment was entered for Petitioner to serve 120
monthsin prison on October 1, 2003. (Doc. 136, 139, 146).

OnOctober 9, 2004, Petitioner timdy filed thisactionunder 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2255. Peitioner aleges
the following issues: 1) that his guilty plea and waiver of gppellate rights was neither done knowingly nor
voluntarily; 2) that his counsdl was ineffective; and 3) that his sentence needs to be vacated in light of

Apprendi, Blakely, and Booker. Blakely v. Washington, 124 S. Ct. 2531 (2004); United States v.



Booker,543U.S. ,160L. Ed. 2d 621, 125 S. Ct. 738 (2005); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466
(2000). The Government responds by stating that Defendant waived his right to gpped in the plea

agreemen.

|. Plea Agreement

“[A] waver of collaterd attack rights brought under § 2255 is generdly enforceable where the
walver isexpresdy stated inthe pleaagreement...” United States v. Cockerham, 237 F.3d 1179, 1183
(20th Cir. 2001). Section nine on pages four and five of the plea agreement has the title - Waiver of
Appeal and Collateral Attack. It States:

Defendant knowingly and voluntarily waives any right to appeal or collaterdly attack any matter
inconnectionwiththis prosecution, conviction and sentence. Thedefendant isawarethat Title 18,
U.S.C. § 3742 affords a defendant the right to apped the conviction and sentence imposed. By
entering into this agreement, the defendant knowingly waives any right to apped a sentence
imposed which is within the guideline range determined gppropriate by the court. The defendant
aso waives any right to chalenge a sentence or manner inwhichit was determined inany collatera
attack, induding, but not limited to, a motion brought under Title 28, U.S.C. 8 2255 [except as
limited by United Statesv. Cockerham, 237 F.3d 1179, 1187 (10th Cir. 2001)]. Inother words
the defendant waives the right to gpped the sentence impaosed in this case except to the extent, if
any, the court departs upwards from the gpplicable sentencing guideline range determined by the
court. However if the United States exercises its right to gppea the sentence imposed as
authorized by Title 18, U.S.C. § 3742(b), the defendant is released from this waiver and may
appedl the sentence received as authorized by Title 18, U.S.C. § 3742(a).
(Doc. 139).

[l. Standard
The Tenth Circuit has created a 3-prong standard to resolve appeals brought by defendantswho
have waived their gppellate rights in the plea agreement. United States v. Hahn, 359 F.3d 1315, 1325

(20th Cir. 2004). To hear such an gppea on the merits the Court must determine: “(1) whether the



disputed appeal fdlswithin the scope of the waiver of appellaterights, (2) whether the defendant knowingly
and voluntarily waived his appdlate rights, and (3) whether enforcing the waver would result in a

miscarriage of justice as we define herein”. 1d.

a Scope

The Court “will construe appeal walvers and any ambiguities in these agreements will be read
agang the Government and infavor of adefendant’ sappel laterights” 1d. quoting United Satesv. Andis,
333 F.3d 886, 890 (8th Cir. 2003). Petitioner’spleaagreement specificdly incudesastatement waiving
the right to attack the sentence through collatera review on a § 2255 motion except to the extent that the
court departsupwardsfromthe gpplicable sentencing guiddine range determined by the court. (Doc. 139).

This Court determined the total offenseleve was 35 and the crimind history category was | which
has a guiddine range of 168-210 months. See U.S.S.G. 8§ 5A (Nov. 2002). Petitioner received a
sentence of 120 months, which was the statutory maximum. See U.S.S.G. 8 5G1.1(a); U.S.S.G. §

5G1.2(d). The Court did not depart upwards from the applicable sentencing guideline range.

b. Knowing and Voluntariness of Petitioner’ s Waiver

This Court will only enforce pleaagreementsthat defendants enter into knowingly and voluntarily.
Hahn, 359 F.3d at 1328; United Sates v. Elliott, 264 F.3d 1171, 1173 (10th Cir. 2001). Petitioner
bears the burden to show that he did not make the pleaagreement knowingly and voluntarily. Hahn, 359
F.3d at 1328; United States v. Edgar, 348 F.3d 867, 872-873 (10th Cir. 2003) (petitioner “hes the

burden to present evidence from the record establishing that he did not understand the waiver.”).
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Petitioner argues that he did not enter his guilty plea knowingly or voluntarily because he did not
understand: 1) the nature of the charges, 2) the essentid dements; 3) the consequences, and 4) the
Government’ s burden of proof.

Petitioner’ s claims contradict his sworn testimony at the change of pleahearing and in the signed
pleaagreement. The Court asked Petitioner the following: 1) to make his satements under oath; 2) if he
fully understood the charges againgt him in the superseding information; 3) if he had the information read
to him; 4) if he discussed it with his lawyer; 5) if he understood the Government would have to prove
beyond a reasonable doubt the two countsinthe information; 6) that by pleading guilty he is admitting thet
the factsdescribed in the countsare true; and 7) if he agreed to the factsthat supported the charges asread
by the Government. (Change of Plea Hearing at 7-28); (Doc. 139, 140). Petitioner answered these
questions in the afirmative. Petitioner aso testified under oath during the Court’s Rule 11 colloquy that
he understood he was waiving the right to tria, call witnesses, the right to gpped and other congtitutiona
protections by pleading guilty and that he was doing so fredy and voluntarily. (Change of Plea Hearing at
7-28).

Petitioner cannot now credibly argue the opposite of what he sworeto inhisearlier atements and
testimony before the Court. United States v. Estrada, 849 F.2d 1304, 1306 (10th Cir. 1988) (A
defendant’ s statements at a plea hearing should be regarded as conclusive asto the truth and accuracy in
the absence of abdievable vdid reason judtifying departure from the apparent truth of those satements).

Petitioner has not met his burdento show that he did not enter the pleaagreement knowingly or voluntarily.



c. Miscarriage of Justice

Anenforcement of an gppellate walver does not result in amiscarriage of justice unless one of four
gtuationsis present: “(1) wherethe digtrict court relied on an impermissible factor such asrace, (2) where
ineffective ass stance of counsdl in connectionwiththe negotiation of the waiver renders the waiver invdid,
(3) where the sentence exceeds the Satutory maximum, or (4) where the walver is otherwise unlawful.”
Hahn, 359 F.3d a 1327. The fourth factor is satisfied when the waiver contains an error that “serioudy
affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicia proceedings.” Id.; see United States v.
Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732 (1993). The petitioner has the burden to show that enforcement of the waiver
in the plea agreement would result inamiscarriage of justice. United Statesv. Anderson, 374 F.3d 955,
959 (10th Cir. 2004).

Petitioner daimsamiscarriage of justice because his counsd was ineffective innegotiating the plea
agreement. Petitioner dams that: 1) Counsdl told him he would get life in prison if he went to trid; 2)
Counsd failed to explain the Sentencing Guiddines; 3) Counsd misstated the evidence and law by tdling
Petitioner that he would be responsible for 5 kilograms of methamphetamine if he went totrid; 4) Counsel
faled to explain the nature of the charges; 5) Counse failed to recognize that Petitioner might have been
eligible for decreasesin his sentence; and 6) Counsdl failed to file an appeal despite being directed to.

The condtitutiond right to effective assstance of counsd is defined in Strickland v. Washington,
466 U.S. 668, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104, S. Ct. 2052 (1984). Toshow that heisentitled to relief, Petitioner
must first show that his counsd’ s representation was deficient as measured againgt an objective sandard
of reasonableness and dso that there is a reasonable probability that but for counse’s deficient

performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different. 1d. at 687, 688 694.
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(i). Petitioner clamsineffective assstance of counsel because counsd erred by informing Petitioner that
he would probably get alife sentence if he were convicted at trid. Petitioner Satesthat had he known that
the Court was bound by the Sentencing Guiddines and that his sentence would probably not have been
the statutory maximum of life imprisonment, he would have goneto trid.

The gtatutory maximum for the chargesinthe second superseding indictment is life imprisonment,
S0 counsdl’ s statement was not entirely incorrect. Counsdl’ s sentence estimate did not take into account
the Sentencing Guiddines, however, thisisnot aper se violaionof effective assstance. Estrada, 849 F.2d
at 1307 (not ineffective ass stance when counsel told defendant he would not get much of a sentence and
he received 12 yearsin prison); United Sates v. Cruce, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 13539, No. 97-3167
(D. Kan. Aug. 14, 1997) (counsdl not ineffective for predicting sentence of 36-47 months when defendant
actudly sentenced to 168). The actud guiddine range for the countsinthe second superseding indictment
was 168-210 months. Whilethisis much less than life imprisonment, this erroneous sentencing prediction
does not fal benegth the objective standards for effective assstance of counsd.

Evenif it did meet the first prong of Strickland, Petitioner fails to show that the result would have
beenany different. Petitioner falsto arguewhy hewould have preferred going to trid and potentidly faling
under the Guiddine range of 168-210 months as opposed to his current sentence under the plea of 120
months. Therefore, Petitioner has not shown his counsel was ineffective under the second prong of

Srickland. Srickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

(if). Petitioner next arguesthat counsd faled to explain the Sentencing Guiddines. Petitioner’sdlamsare
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not credible because the evidence showsthat counsdl did inform Petitioner about the Guiddines. On page
three of the Petition to enter apleaof guilty, the Sentencing Guidelines and procedure are described in
detal. (Doc. 141). Additiondly on pagefiveof that same document, Petitioner stated heread, understood
and discussed with his attorney every part of the petition to plea guilty, induding the lengthy paragraph
about the Sentencing Guidelines. (Id.). This document wassgned and sworeto Petitioner incourt. (1d.);
Estrada, 849 F.2d a 1306 (A defendant’ s statements at a plea hearing should be regarded as condusve
as to the truth and accuracy in the absence of a believable vaid reason justifying departure from the
apparent truth of those satements).

Moreover, Petitioner cannot satisfy the second prong of Strickland, as he has not shown that the
proceedings would have been any different had counsdl informed Petitioner of the Guiddines. Strickland,
466 U.S. at 694. The evidence showsthat Petitioner did know about the Guidelines and entered into the
plea agreement anyway. The Court conducted a Rule 11 plea colloquy and asked the Defendant if he
understood the Sentencing Guiddinesand how the Court will find facts and the guideline range. (Change
of PleaHearing, 19-21). Defendant responded that he did understand. (1d.). “This [Rule 11] colloquy
between a judge and a defendant before accepting a qguilty plea is not pro forma and without legal
ggnificance. Rather it is an important safeguard that protects defendants from incompetent counsel or
misunderstandings.” Fields v. Gibson, 277 F.3d 1203, 1215 (10th Cir. 2002). Petitioner pleaded guilty
with knowledge of the Guiddines, therefore, he cannot credibly argue that he would have gone to trid had

his counsd dso explained the Guiddlines.

(iti). Petitioner next argues that his counsel was ineffective for sating that Petitioner would be responsible
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for 5 kilograms of methamphetamine if hewent to trid. See21 U.S.C. §841(a)(1). Petitioner damsthis
was congtitutiondly deficient advice because there was no evidentiary support for this quantity of drugs.

Again the facts do not support Petitioner’s argument. Petitioner admitted under oath during the
Rule 11 plea colloquy to being arrested at a house where five pounds of methamphetamine was seized.
Estrada, 849 F.2d at 1306 (10th Cir. 1988). Petitioner aso admitted to facts showing he was involved
in interstate commerce in support of the digtribution of over 50 grams of methamphetamine. Additiondly,
the pre-sentence report shows that over 4 kilograms of methamphetamine was found in the same house
as Petitioner during the execution of a search warrant and over a 1 kilogram was found in a car located
outsde the same house. Petitioner did not object to the pre-sentence report. The Court cannot find any
support for Petitioner’s dam that counsel’s advice regarding drug quantity fals beneath objectively

reasonable standards.

(iv). Petitioner dso dams that counse failed to explain the nature of the charges. The Signed petition to
plea guilty and the Rule 11 plea colloquy support a different concluson. (Doc. 141); (Change of plea
hearing at 13). Petitioner responded affirmatively when asked by the Court if his lawyer counseed and
advised him on each charge, any lesser charges and al possible defenses in Petitioner’s case. (1d.).
Additiondly, Petitioner responded affirmativdy when asked if he was satisfied with his counsd’s
performance and if counsel did agood job. (Id. a 24). The Court finds persuasive Petitioner’s sworn
satementsto the Court regarding counsdl’ s advice and recommendationabout the charges. Estrada, 849

F.2d at 1306 (10th Cir. 1988).



(v). Petitioner arguesin his Traversethat his counsd wasineffective because hefailed to obtain decreases
in the offense level based on Defendant’s minor role under U.S.S.G. § 2D1.1(8)(3) and 8 3B1.2 aswell
asthe safety vave provisonin 8 5C1.2. Thisclam s clearly not related to the negotiation of the waiver
but rather to adleged errors at sentencing; therefore, it is an issue that falls within the scope of the waiver
and cannot beraised. See Cockerham, 237 F.3d at 1190-1191 (Ineffective assstance of counse clams
that do not directly chalenge the vdidity of the plea and waiver are waived); see dso United States v.
Atterberry, 144 F.3d 1299, 1300 (10th Cir. 1998) (The Court will hold a defendant to the terms of a
lawful plea agreement).

Out of anabundance of cautionthe Court now briefly addresses Petitioner’ s claims and findsthem
meritless. Petitioner does not qudlify for the safety vave provision in 8 5C1.2 because he was found to
have possessed a firearm in connection with the offense § 5C1.2(a)(2). Ptitioner does not qualify for
the minor participant reduction because he was convicted of aless serious offense than warranted by his
actua crimind conduct. See § 3B1.2, gpplication n.3(B). Petitioner faced a statutory maximum of life
imprisonment under dl of the countsin the second superseding indictment and the statutory maximum for
the counts to which he pleaded guilty was 10 years.

Therefore, counsdl’s falure to raise these sentencing issues does not fal below objectively
reasonable standards. Nor canPetitioner’s clam satisfy the second prong of Strickland because even if
Counsel had raised these daims, the facts show, as discussed above, that Petitioner did not qualify for the

sentencing reductions, so the sentence would have been no different.

1 When police arrested Petitioner, they also found aloaded .44 cdiber pistol dong with over
five kilograms of methamphetamine.
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(vi). Findly, Petitioner argues that his counsd was uncongtitutiondly deficient for failing to file an apped
despiterequestsby Petitioner. Like the issue above, this argument does not rel ate to the negotiationof the
plea agreement or the waiver of gppellate rights; therefore, it fals within the scope of the waiver.

Out of anabundance of caution, the Court will addressthisclam. Petitioner does not provide any
detals regarding the issues he asked his counsel to gppedl. Thisisproblemétic for Petitioner’ sclam asthe
manner to determine ineffective assstance of counsd for faling to raise anissue on apped isto “examine
the merits of the omitted issue” United States v. Cook, 45 F.3d 388, 392 (10th Cir. 1995). If the
omitted issue is meritless, counsdl’ sfailure to gpped isnot a conditutiond violation. 1d. Because he has
not stated what issues his counsd failed to gpped, the Court is unable to determine the merits. See Hall
v. Bellmon, 935 F.2d 1106, 1110 (10th Cir. 1991) (It is not the proper function of the district court to
assume the role of advocate for the pro selitigant). Petitioner’ sdamfails because he has not provided facts
to “overcome the strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable

professonal assistance’. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

Under Hahn, the other three factors that congtitute a miscarriage of justice do not provide any
groundsfor rdlief either. Hahn, 359 F.3d at 1325. Thereisno evidenceto show that this Court relied on
any impermissble factor such asrace. Petitioner makes conclusory assertions that his sentence exceeds
the statutory maximum and that enforcement of hiswaiver will result in amiscarriage of justice; however,
he provides neither an argument nor facts to support these conclusons. Therefore, the Court holds that
the waiver isvadid and enforceable.

Petitioner dso dams that Booker, Blakely and Apprendi render his sentence unconditutiond.
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Blakely v. Washington, 124 S. Ct. 2531 (2004); United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. _, 160 L. Ed. 2d
621, 125 S. Ct. 738 (2005); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). Petitioner cannot raise
these claims because they fdl within the scope of the appellate waiver; however, out of an abundance of

caution the Court will briefly address these issues.

I11. Blakely and Booker

Even assuming arguendo that the waiver is invdid, Petitioner’s dam that his sentence is
unconditutiona is meritless. Petitioner arguesthat the Court violated hisrights under Booker and Blakely
because his sentence was increased by facts not admitted or found by a jury. Even if Petitioner had not
waived hisright to appeal, hisdamwould fall because neither Booker nor Blakely isavailable on collatera
appedl. United Satesv. Price, 400 F.3d 844, 849 (10thCir. 2005) (Blakely not retroactively applicable
toinitia 2255 motions); Bey v. United States, 399 F.3d 1266, 1269 (10th Cir. 2005) (U.S. Supreme
Court has made Booker gpplicable only to casesondirect review). Petitioner did not make adirect appeal
and hiscase wasfind prior to the Supreme Court’ sdecisonsinBooker and Blakely; therefore, these cases

have no bearing on Petitioner’ s sentence.

V. Apprendi

InApprendi the Supreme Court held that “[o]ther than the fact of aprior conviction, any fact that
increases the pendty for acrime beyond the prescribed statuory maximum must be submitted to ajury, and
proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 490. Petitioner was charged with and

admitted to violating two countsof 18 U.S.C. § 1952(a)(3). See also 21 U.S.C. § 841(8)(1); (Change of

-11-



plea hearing at 9-13). Each count carries a Satutory maximum of five yearsin prison and Petitioner was
sentenced to serve both five year sentences consecutively. U.S.S.G. § 5G1.2(d). Unlike Apprendi
however, Petitioner was not sentenced in excess of the statutory maximum. The Court adhered to
Apprendi by sentencing Petitioner to the statutory maximum despite an gpplicable guiddine range that
exceeded 10 years. See U.S.S.G. § 5G1.1 (when the statutory maximum sentence is less than the
minimum gpplicable guiddine range, the statutory maximum shadl be the sentence). Petitioner’'s dam is

without merit.

IT ISORDERED FOR THEREASONSSET FORTH ABOV Ethat Defendant’ smotionfor relief
under the provisions of 28 U.S.C. Section 2255 (Doc. 181) be DISMISSED, and
IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that a Certificate of Appedability under theprovisons of 28 U.S.C.

Section 2253 should be and hereby is DENIED.

SO ORDERED this 31st  day of May, 2005.

9 Wedey E. Brown

Wedey E. Brown, Senior U.S. Didtrict Judge
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